
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Antitrust Division 
450 5th Street, N.W., Suite 8700 
Washington, D.C. 20530, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

OLYMPUS GROWTH FUND VI, L.P. 
One Station Place  
Stamford, CT 06902, 

LIQUI-BOX, INC. 
901 E. Byrd Street 
Richmond, VA 23219, 

         and 

DS SMITH PLC 
350 Euston Road 
London, NW1 3AX, 

Defendants. 

   Civil Action No.: 

   Judge:  

COMPLAINT 

The United States of America (“United States”), acting under the direction of the 

Attorney General of the United States, brings this civil antitrust action against Defendants 

Olympus Growth Fund VI, L.P. (“Olympus”), Liqui-Box, Inc. (“Liqui-Box”), and DS Smith plc 

(“DS Smith”) to enjoin Olympus’s proposed acquisition of DS Smith’s Plastics Division (“DS 

Smith Plastics”), through Liqui-Box, a portfolio company of Olympus.  The United States 

complains and alleges as follows: 
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I. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 5, 2019, Liqui-Box 

proposes to acquire DS Smith Plastics for approximately $500 million, making the combined 

company one of the largest bag-in-box (“BiB”) suppliers in the United States.   

2. BiBs are engineered plastic bags used to store and dispense liquids such as milk, 

post-mix (e.g., soda syrups and other beverage concentrates), smoothies, and wine.  BiBs are 

made up of a single or multi-layer plastic film bag and an attached fitment, which is a plastic 

component used to facilitate the transfer of the liquids into and out of the bags.  After a BiB is 

manufactured, it is shipped empty to the customer, who fills the BiB with liquid and then sells 

the filled BiB.  Customers, such as dairies, soft-drink manufacturers, and other food producers, 

rely on BiBs to preserve and safely transport their liquids to restaurants, convenience stores, 

other food service operators, and retail outlets. 

3. In the United States, Liqui-Box and DS Smith are two of only three significant 

suppliers of BiBs for nearly all end uses, including dairy, post-mix, and smoothies.  Liqui-Box 

and DS Smith also are two of only four significant suppliers of BiBs for wine in the United 

States.  The proposed acquisition will eliminate competition between Liqui-Box and DS Smith to 

supply these BiBs to customers and is likely to lead to increased prices, lower quality and 

service, and less innovation.   

4. As a result, the proposed acquisition likely would substantially lessen competition 

for the development, manufacture, and sale of dairy, post-mix, smoothie, and wine BiBs in the 

United States in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and should be 

enjoined. 
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II. THE PARTIES AND THE TRANSACTION 

5. Olympus, a fund managed by private equity firm Olympus Partners, is a Delaware 

limited partnership with headquarters in Stamford, Connecticut.  In 2018, Olympus Partners had 

approximately $8.5 billion total capital under management between its different funds, with 

Olympus comprising approximately $2.3 billion of that total. 

6. Liqui-Box, a company owned by Olympus, is a Delaware corporation with 

headquarters in Richmond, Virginia.  Liqui-Box is a global manufacturer of packaging and 

packaging equipment, including BiBs, with four U.S. manufacturing facilities, as well as 

additional facilities across the world.  In 2018, Liqui-Box had total sales of $177 million, 

including approximately $123 million in the United States.   

7. DS Smith is a United Kingdom public limited company with headquarters in 

London, England.  DS Smith is a global manufacturer of packaging, packaging equipment, and 

recycled paper.  DS Smith operates DS Smith Plastics, a division that manufactures flexible 

packaging and dispensing solutions, rigid packaging, injection-molded products, and foam 

products.  Among DS Smith Plastics’ flexible packaging products are BiBs, which are primarily 

sold under the Rapak brand name in the United States.  DS Smith Plastics has its U.S. 

headquarters in Romeoville, Illinois, and operates five plants in the United States, as well as 

additional plants across the world.  In 2018, DS Smith Plastics had total sales of $479 million, 

including approximately $137 million in sales of BiBs and other goods in the United States.   

8. Pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 5, 2019, Liqui-Box agreed 

to acquire DS Smith Plastics for approximately $500 million. 
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III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. The United States brings this action under Section 15 of the Clayton Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 25, to prevent and restrain Defendants from violating Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 18.   

10. Defendants develop, manufacture, and sell BiBs throughout the United States in 

the flow of interstate commerce.  Defendants’ activities in the development, manufacture, and 

sale of BiBs substantially affect interstate commerce.  This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction 

over this action pursuant to Section 15 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 25, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1331, 1337(a), and 1345.    

11. Defendants have consented to venue and personal jurisdiction in this District.  

Venue is proper in this District under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 22, and 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(c).     

IV. INDUSTRY BACKGROUND 

12. BiBs are used to store and dispense liquids such as milk, post-mix, smoothies, and 

wine.  The components of a BiB include a flexible plastic bag and an attached fitment.  BiBs 

typically hold between one and six gallons of liquid, but they also come in smaller and larger 

sizes.  The attached fitment facilitates the transfer of liquids into and out of the bag.     

13. The flexible plastic bag component of a BiB is typically made up of one to five 

layers of film.  The films are most often made of polyethylene (“PE”), but also can be made with 

ethylene vinyl alcohol (“EVOH”) or other materials, and are bound together using heat sealing.  

Customers require different numbers and types of layers to meet individual product demands.  

For example, the most basic bags consist of a single layer of PE that secures the liquid during 
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transport.  More sophisticated bags have additional layers of engineered film that add durability, 

metallization, and oxygen, moisture, or temperature resistance. 

14. The fitment component of a BiB typically is made from resin using injection 

molding and attached to the flexible plastic bag component via heat sealing.  The design of the 

fitment is determined by the liquid that will go into the bag and the method that will be used to 

dispense the liquid out of the bag.  For example, if the BiB is used to dispense post-mix into a 

soda dispenser, the fitment will be designed to attach to a soda dispenser.  The simplest fitment is 

a basic cap, which can be flipped off or unscrewed to pour out the liquid.  Highly engineered 

fitments can have specialized elements such as a built-in push-tap feature or an oxygen barrier to 

provide resistance to the elements.  Fitments are often protected by patents due to the specialized 

nature and high degree of engineering that can be required in fitment manufacturing. 

15. BiBs are shipped to the customer who fills the BiB with liquid using a filler 

machine that the customer typically purchases or leases from the BiB supplier.  The customer 

then ships the filled BiB to a store, restaurant, or other food processor.  For example, a post-mix 

manufacturer seeking to distribute its post-mix to a convenience store would purchase BiBs and 

a filler machine from a BiB supplier, fill the BiBs with the post-mix at its own facility, and then 

ship the filled BiBs to the convenience store for use in the convenience store’s dispensing 

machine.   

16. BiBs are distinct from and have numerous advantages over other forms of 

packaging.  For example, compared to rigid containers (e.g., jugs and bottles) and cartons, which 

are the other primary forms of packaging used for storing and transporting liquids, BiBs are 

smaller and thus reduce storage space and shelf space, both when empty and filled.  In addition, 

BiBs can be a more hygienic form of dispensing liquids because they can reduce user contact and 
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thus contamination.  Further, BiBs can keep their contents fresher for longer than other types of 

packaging by allowing for minimal contact with air.  Finally, BiBs can be more economical 

because they have features that allow the user to get all the liquid out of the bag and result in less 

packaging waste when they are empty and disposed of.  

V. RELEVANT MARKETS 

A. Product Markets 

1. Dairy BiBs  

 17. BiBs for dairy products hold liquids such as ice cream mix, yogurt, milk, and 

cream.  Dairy BiBs are typically durable bags made from PE and often have a flip-cap or screw-

off cap fitment.  Dairy BiBs are designed to reduce the risk of contamination and extend shelf 

life.   

 18. There are no substitutes for dairy BiBs.  Dairy BiBs provide dairy liquids to 

customers in an easy to use, inexpensive format that other packaging does not offer.  For 

example, rigid containers require more storage space, may not keep the dairy liquid as fresh, and 

may have a higher risk of contamination.  BiBs for other end uses cannot be substituted for dairy 

BiBs due to the unique specifications for dairy BiBs. 

 19 In the event of a small but significant non-transitory price increase for dairy BiBs, 

customers would not substitute away from dairy BiBs in a sufficient volume to make the price 

increase unprofitable.  Therefore, the development, manufacture, and sale of dairy BiBs is a 

relevant product market and line of commerce within the meaning of Section 7 of the Clayton 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.   

 

 

Case 1:20-cv-00464   Document 1   Filed 02/19/20   Page 6 of 13



7 
 

2. Post-Mix BiBs  

 20. Post-mix BiBs hold concentrated drink mixes such as soda syrup and juice 

concentrates.  These concentrates are often mixed with carbonated or non-carbonated water 

before being served.  Post-mix BiBs are typically made with layers of PE or EVOH and a fitment 

that attaches to a drink dispensing machine.  Bags used for post-mix must be very strong to 

accommodate high filling flow rates required by post-mix manufacturers.  Post-mix BiBs are 

designed to maintain freshness and ensure all liquid is dispensed from the bag while minimizing 

leaks and spills and accurately dispensing the product.  

 21. There are no substitutes for post-mix BiBs.  Post-mix BiBs must attach to a 

dispensing machine, which a rigid container cannot do.  Moreover, BiBs for other end uses 

cannot be substituted for post-mix BiBs due to the unique fitments and bag design required for 

post-mix BiBs. 

 22. In the event of a small but significant non-transitory price increase for post-mix 

BiBs, customers would not substitute away from post-mix BiBs in a sufficient volume to make 

the price increase unprofitable.  Therefore, the development, manufacture, and sale of post-mix 

BiBs is a relevant product market and line of commerce within the meaning of Section 7 of the 

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.  

3. Smoothie BiBs 

 23. Smoothie BiBs hold mixes and other ingredients for smoothies and other drinks.  

Smoothie BiBs are typically made with layers of PE that offer low oxygen permeability.  Like 

post-mix BiBs, most fitments on smoothie BiBs are designed to be attached to dispensing 

machines and are highly specialized for the particular types of machines they attach to.  A 

smoothie BiB typically has a special cap into which a probe is inserted in order to dispense the 
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liquid.  Smoothie BiBs are designed to maintain the safety and freshness of the liquid, protect the 

taste and quality of these flavor-sensitive liquids, and reduce the risk of contamination. 

 24. There are no substitutes for smoothie BiBs.  Rigid containers cannot be attached 

to the dispensing machines smoothie BiBs are used in.  Further, rigid containers are more 

expensive and bulkier to transport, may not keep the liquid as fresh, and may have a higher risk 

of contamination.  Moreover, BiBs for other end uses cannot be substituted for smoothie BiBs 

due to the unique specifications required for smoothie BiBs.  Fitments for smoothie BiBs, for 

example, often are designed to specifically interact with the dispensing machines.   

 25. In the event of a small but significant non-transitory price increase for smoothie 

BiBs, customers would not substitute away from smoothie BiBs in a sufficient volume to make 

the price increase unprofitable.  Therefore, the development, manufacture, and sale of smoothie 

BiBs is a relevant product market and line of commerce within the meaning of Section 7 of the 

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.   

4. Wine BiBs 

26. Wine BiBs hold the wine inside of boxed wines, which are often sold in retail 

outlets.  The bag component of wine BiBs is typically made from PE and EVOH and is designed 

to protect against oxidation and UV light.  The fitment for wine BiBs is typically a push, pull, or 

twist tap that is specifically designed to avoid allowing oxygen into the bag when the wine is 

dispensed.  This provides a longer shelf life for wine once opened as compared to traditional 

bottles.  Because the fitments for wine BiBs are operated directly by individuals, they must be 

simple to operate and user friendly.   

27. There are no substitutes for wine BiBs.  BiBs for other end uses cannot be 

substituted for wine BiBs due to the unique specifications for wine BiBs.  Both the bag and 
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fitment are specially engineered to provide an oxygen barrier for the product that other BiBs 

typically do not provide.  Bags and fitments that lack this specialized oxygen barrier would allow 

oxygen to seep in and degrade the wine, making it unsuitable for consumption after only a short 

time.  Wine bottles are not adequate substitutes for wine BiBs.  A wine BiB can keep wine fresh 

for up to four weeks after it is opened, significantly longer than a wine bottle can.  Also, wine 

BiBs provide faster and more sanitary pouring for food service operators than bottles do, with no 

risk of broken glass.   

28. In the event of a small but significant non-transitory price increase for wine BiBs, 

customers would not substitute away from wine BiBs in a sufficient volume to make the price 

increase unprofitable.  Therefore, the development, manufacture, and sale of wine BiBs is a 

relevant product market and line of commerce within the meaning of Section 7 of the Clayton 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.   

B. Geographic Market 

29. Customers in the United States do not purchase dairy, post-mix, smoothie, and 

wine BiBs (collectively, the “Relevant BiB Products”) from suppliers located outside the United 

States.  Shipping these products from outside the United States generally would not be 

economical because the shipping costs are too large relative to the cost of the BiB itself.  In 

addition, BiBs manufactured and sold outside the United States often have different 

specifications than those manufactured and sold in the United States due to, for example, 

differences in the liquids stored in the BiBs or differences in dispensing machines.  Further, it is 

important for a supplier of BiBs in the United States to be able to timely provide service to its 

customers who have issues with the BiBs, such as leakage or breakage of the bags or problems 

with the attachment of the BiBs to the filler machines.  Suppliers located outside the United 
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States do not have employees located in the United States to timely service BiB customers in the 

United States. 

30. In the event of a small but significant non-transitory increase in the price of the 

Relevant BiB Products, customers in the United States would not procure these products from 

suppliers located outside the United States in a sufficient volume to make such a price increase 

unprofitable.  Accordingly, the United States is a relevant geographic market within the meaning 

of Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.    

VI. ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS 

31. Liqui-Box, DS Smith, and one other company are the only significant suppliers of 

dairy, post-mix, and smoothie BiBs to customers located in the United States.  Liqui-Box and DS 

Smith are two of only four suppliers of wine BiBs to customers located in the United States.   

32. Liqui-Box and DS Smith compete vigorously with one another on the basis of 

price, quality, and service in the markets for the Relevant BiB Products in the United States.  

Competition between Liqui-Box and DS Smith has fostered innovation and led to the 

development of new types of BiBs and product features.  The proposed acquisition would 

eliminate the substantial head-to-head competition between Liqui-Box and DS Smith and the 

benefits that customers have realized from that competition in the form of lower prices, better 

quality and service, and innovation.  By eliminating DS Smith as a competitor in the 

development, manufacture, and sale of the Relevant BiB Products in the United States, the 

proposed acquisition of DS Smith Plastics would substantially increase the likelihood that Liqui-
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Box would increase prices, reduce quality and service, and diminish investment in research and 

development below what it would have been absent the acquisition. 

 33. The proposed acquisition, therefore, would likely substantially lessen competition 

in the development, manufacture, and sale of the Relevant BiB Products in the United States in 

violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.  

VII. ENTRY 

34. Entry into the development, manufacture, and sale of the Relevant BiB Products 

would not be timely, likely, or sufficient to prevent the harm to competition caused by Liqui-

Box’s proposed acquisition of DS Smith Plastics.   

35. Entry into the markets for the Relevant BiB Products is costly and time 

consuming.  Significant upfront capital expenditures are required to enter.  The machinery to 

manufacture BiBs, including injection molding machines for the fitments and production lines 

that seal the bags and attach the fitments, is expensive and highly engineered.  Manufacturing 

BiBs in accordance with customer requirements requires skilled employees and industry know-

how that can take years to establish.  Further, customers demand that suppliers have a proven 

ability to supply BiBs with the required specifications so that their BiBs do not leak or break and 

are able to store the liquids for the required amount of time without spoiling.  This reputation for 

having a quality product takes significant time to build.  Finally, a new entrant would need to 

hire trained technicians capable of providing timely service to customers when BiBs leak, break, 

or encounter other product quality issues.  
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VIII. VIOLATIONS ALLEGED 

36. The acquisition of DS Smith Plastics by Liqui-Box is likely to substantially lessen 

competition in each of the relevant markets set forth above in violation of Section 7 of the 

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18. 

37. The transaction will likely have the following anticompetitive effects, among 

others, in the relevant markets:  

a. competition between Liqui-Box and DS Smith will be eliminated;  

b. competition generally will be substantially lessened; and  

c. prices will likely increase, quality and the level of service will likely decrease, 

and innovation will likely decline. 

IX. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

38. The United States requests that this Court:  

a. adjudge and decree Liqui-Box’s acquisition of DS Smith Plastics to be 

unlawful and in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18;  

b. enjoin Defendants and all persons acting on their behalf from consummating 

the proposed acquisition of DS Smith Plastics by Liqui-Box or from entering 

into or carrying out any other agreement, plan, or understanding the effect of 

which would be to combine Liqui-Box with DS Smith Plastics; 

c. award the United States its costs of this action; and  

d. grant the United States such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated: February An, 2020 

Respectfully sub itted, 

FOR PLANT 

C.  
KATHLEE1\LS. 'O'NEILL 
Senior Director of Investigations & Litigation 

MA N DELRAHIM (D. ar #457795) KATRINA H. ROUSE (D.C. Bar #1013035) 
Assistant Attorney General Chief 

Defense, Industrials, and Aerospace Section 

BERNARD A. NIGRO, JR. (D.C. B 412357) IAVID  E. ALTS1ULER (D.C. Bar #983023) 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney eral Assistant Chief 

Defense, Industrials, and Aerospace Section 

V1 

JAY D. OWEN 
Assistant Chief 
Defense, Industrials, and Aerospace Section 

Cfr-RISTINE A. HILL* (D.C. Bar #461048) 
REBECCA VALENTINE (D.C. Bar #989607) 
DANIEL J. MONAHAN, JR. 

Attorneys for the United States 

Defense, Industrials, and Aerospace Section 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Antitrust Division 
450 Fifth Street N.W., Suite 8700 
Washington, D.C. 20530 
Telephone: (202) 305-2738 
Facsimile: (202) 514-9033 
Email: christine.hill@usdoj.gov  

*LEAD ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED 
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